# **SECOND PARTY OPINION**

## on alignment of

MPC Container Ships ASA Sustainability-Linked Financing Framework with the International Capital Market Association's (ICMA) Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles (SLBP) and the Loan Markets Association's (LMA) Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles (SLLP)





## **Executive Summary**

MPC Container Ships ASA (*hereafter referred to as* "MPCC") is a prominent container tonnage provider specializing in small to mid-size container ships. As a company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange, its core business revolves around owning and operating a fleet of container vessels engaged in intra-regional trade lanes under time-charter agreements. MPCC has engaged the American Bureau of Shipping (hereafter referred to as "ABS") to provide a Second Party Opinion (SPO) on the on alignment of MPCC Sustainability-Linked Financing Framework with the International Capital Market Association's (ICMA) Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles (SLBP) and the Loan Markets Association's (LMA) Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles (SLLP).

The SPO is based on the following standards and guidance, as appropriate for this engagement:

- Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles (June 2024) of the International Capital Market Association
- Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles (February 2023) of the Loan Market Association
- Guidelines for Green, Social, Sustainability, and Sustainability-Linked Bonds External Reviews (June 2022) of the International Capital Market Association
- External Review Guidelines for Green, Social, Sustainability, and Sustainability-Linked Loans (January 2024) of the Loan Market Association

ABS is of the opinion that the MPCC's Sustainability-Linked Financing Framework aligns with the five core components of the Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles (SLBP) and Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles (SLLP). This assessment is based on the following:

SLBP/SLLP Components	ABS Opinion	Alignment with SLBP/SLLP (√/ x)
Selection of KPIs	ABS considers the KPI relevant, material, and aligned with the company's sustainability strategy. ABS deems the SPTs ambitious, as they constitute an important step to reduce GHG emissions.	$\checkmark$
Calibration of SPTs	ABS views MPCC's calibration of Sustainability Performance Targets (SPTs) as ambitious. It takes into consideration the beyond business-as- usual trajectory and regulatory required targets.	$\checkmark$
Loan Characteristics	ABS finds that the bond characteristics align well with SLB requirements, including an increase in principal repayment if the SPT is not met, and mandates public reporting and verification to ensure transparency.	$\checkmark$



SLBP/SLLP Components	ABS Opinion	Alignment with SLBP/SLLP (√/ ×)
Reporting	MPCC's reporting strategy is thorough and transparent. By providing detailed annual reports on the performance of KPI and, where possible, the impact of the projects. This approach is well-aligned with SLBPs and SLLPs and best practices in the industry, to inform stakeholders about the use and impact of the funds.	~
Verification	MPPC recognized that post-issuance verification is a necessary element of the SLBP. Therefore, qualified external reviewers will be provided with the mandate to independently verify the KPI performance data and achievements on the SPTs.	✓

## **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary	. 2
Table of Contents	. 3
Nomenclature	. 4
1. Introduction	. 5
1.1. MPCC Decarbonization Strategy	. 6
2. Scope of Work	. 7
2.1. Assumptions & Limitations	. 7
3. Methodology	. 8
4. Alignment with Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles (SLBP) and Sustainability- Linked Loan Principles (SLLP)	. 9
4.1. Selection of KPIs	. 9
4.2. Calibration of SPTs	10
4.3. Bond Characteristics	.11
4.4. Reporting	.11
4.5. Verification	.12
5. Conclusion	12
6. Statement of Competence and Independence	13



## Nomenclature

AER	Annual Efficiency Ratio
-----	-------------------------

- IMO International Maritime Organization
- KPI Key Performance Indicator
- LMA Loan Market Association
- SLB Sustainability Linked Bond
- SLBP Sustainability Linked Bond Principles
- SLFF Sustainability-Linked Financing Framework
- SLL Sustainability Linked Loan
- SLLP Sustainability Linked Loan Principles
- SPT Sustainability Performance Target
- SPO Second Party Opinion



#### 1. Introduction

MPC Container Ships ASA (*hereafter referred to as* 'MPCC') is a prominent container tonnage provider specializing in small to mid-size container ships. As a company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange, its core business revolves around owning and operating a fleet of container vessels engaged in intra-regional trade lanes under time-charter agreements.

This document commences with an examination of the Sustainability-Linked Financing Framework, a structure established by MPCC. The framework is designed to facilitate the issuance of various sustainable financing instruments, including bonds, loans, and other financial instruments, which are intended to mobilize financing to support MPCC's efforts toward decarbonizing the shipping industry. The Framework is developed in alignment with the Guidelines for Sustainability-Linked Bonds Principles published by the International Capital Market Associations (ICMA) and Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles by the Loan Markets Association (LMA)<sup>1</sup>.

In accordance with the Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles and Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles, it is recommended that borrowers engage external review providers to assess the alignment of their Framework with the four core components of the Principles. MPCC has retained the services of the American Bureau of Shipping (ABS) to provide a second-party opinion on the alignment of the framework with the guidelines for sustainability-linked bonds and sustainability-linked loan principles.

ABS is a recognized leader in new technology development and assessment, serving as a trusted technical advisor to the marine and offshore industries. For over 150 years, these pillars have formed the foundation of ABS's success and have positioned the organization to provide practical solutions for the future. With a global team of nearly 3,500 technical professionals, ABS possesses the requisite experience, knowledge, and professional judgment to assist its members and clients worldwide. ABS adheres to the following five fundamental ethical and professional principles for external reviews:

- 1. Integrity
- 2. Objectivity
- 3. Professional Competence and Due Care
- 4. Confidentiality
- 5. Professional Behavior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles and Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles can be accessed at

https://www.icmagroup.org/assets/documents/Sustainable-finance/2024-updates/Sustainability-Linked-Bond-Principles-June-2024.pdf and, https://www.icmagroup.org/assets/documents/Sustainable-finance/2024-updates/Sustainability-Linked-Bond-Principles-June-2024.pdf



#### 1.1. MPCC Decarbonization Strategy

MPCC has established a decarbonization pathway aligned with the 2023 IMO Strategy on the reduction of GHG emissions, which follows a well-below 2 degrees pathway. As detailed in MPCC's 2023 Sustainability Report<sup>3</sup>, their Scope 1 emissions were 1.67 million metric tons CO2e in 2023, a decrease from 1.81 million metric tons CO2e in 2022. MPCC aims to use the following decarbonization levers as detailed in their 2023 Sustainability report are summarized below:

**Investing in Low Emission Vessels:** Recognizing the urgent need for more energy-efficient and environmentally friendly vessel operations, MPCC continuously reviews and evaluates feasible upgrades, retrofit possibilities, and investment opportunities in collaboration with its charterers to maintain an attractive and competitive fleet.

In 2023, MPCC initiated retrofit programs that will extend into 2024 and onwards, with a total cost of USD 24 million. These retrofits include installations of Energy Efficiency Technologies such as Variable Frequency Drives, Autopilot upgrades, Main Engine and Auxiliary Engine preheating, oil filtration solutions, Auxiliary Engine waste heat recovery, and LED lights. Additionally, the retrofits include hydrodynamic measures such as pre swirl stators, propeller, propeller boss cap fins and new bulbous bows.

Furthermore, MPCC sold 13 older and less efficient vessels and acquired seven more environmentally efficient vessels to achieve its GHG emission reduction targets.

**Zero and Low-Carbon Fuel Solutions:** Reducing the costs of zero and low-carbon fuel solutions requires new forms of cross-supply-chain collaboration and active coordination between different stakeholders from the entire maritime ecosystem. Green shipping corridors help achieve this by establishing favorable conditions for decarbonization on specific trade routes, where technological, economic, and regulatory feasibility of operating zero-emissions ships is catalyzed through public and private actions.

MPCC actively supports such initiatives, not only through its fleet renewal program and partnership with MMMCZCS and the Silk Alliance but also by investing in promising alternative fuel producers. In 2022, MPCC signed the industry's first offtake agreement for synthetic marine diesel oil (MDO) with the German-based clean tech Company INERATEC. The synthetic MDO is made from biogenic CO2 and renewable hydrogen and can be used in conventional combustion engines on MPCC's existing vessels and as a pilot fuel for its methanol-powered new buildings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> MPCC's 2023 Sustainability Report can be accessed at <u>https://www.mpc-container.com/sustainability/reporting/</u>



## 2. Scope of Work

The objective of this report is to provide an SPO on MPCC's Framework based on the guidelines set forth by the International Capital Market Association Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles and the Loan Markets Association Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles. The Sustainability-Linked Bond/Loan incentivizes the borrower to achieve material, ambitious, predetermined, regularly monitored and externally verified sustainability objectives through Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and Sustainability Performance Targets (SPTs). By seeking this SPO, MPCC aims to demonstrate its commitment to these principles and alignment of its SLB/SLL with recognized standards and guidelines.

ABS, as an independent third-party, has been appointed to evaluate MPCC SLB/SLL. The scope of this evaluation includes:

- Framework Review: A high-level assessment of MPCC's Sustainability Linked Financing Framework.
- Alignment: Assessment of MPCC's Sustainability Linked Financing Framework with the International Capital Market Association's (ICMA) Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles (SLBP) and the Loan Markets Association's (LMA) Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles (SLLP).

#### 2.1. Assumptions & Limitations

In preparing this SPO, ABS has considered the Sustainability Linked Financing Framework submitted by MPCC. Additionally, ABS has reviewed MPCC's Sustainability Report 2023 and the information available on the MPC Container Ships website.

The information and data provided to ABS by MPCC formed the basis for the assumptions made in rendering this SPO. ABS has relied in good faith on the information provided by MPCC and assumes it to be accurate, true, and complete. ABS accepts no liability for errors or misrepresentations in the data provided.



## 3. Methodology

To evaluate the alignment of the agreement with relevant international standards and best practices, ABS employed a comprehensive three-step approach, consistent with its established methodology for such engagements.

As the initial step, a thorough review of the Documents provided by MPCC was conducted. This review allowed ABS to gain a broad understanding of the Framework's scope, objectives, and governing principles.

Secondly, ABS thoroughly examined MPCC's sustainability reports, corporate social responsibility statements, and other pertinent public disclosures to enable the evaluation of the company's ESG performance, as well as its commitments to sustainable practices and responsible operations.

In the third step, ABS engaged in interviews with MPCC's management team to gain valuable first-hand insights into their green strategy, objectives, and implementation plans. These discussions provided ABS with a deeper understanding of MPCC's vision and approach toward sustainability and environmental stewardship.

Building upon the knowledge acquired through this comprehensive three-step approach, encompassing document analysis, public disclosure review, and management consultations, ABS formulated its opinion on the alignment of MPCC's Sustainability Linked Financing Framework with SLBPs and SLLPs.



# 4. Alignment with Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles (SLBP) and Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles (SLLP)

The sustainability-linked Bond Principles (SLBP) and Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles (SLLP) established a framework that enables all market participants to clearly understand the characteristics of an SLB and SLL. This framework is based on the following five core components:

- 1. Selection of KPIs
- 2. Calibration of SPTs
- 3. Loan Characteristics
- 4. Reporting
- 5. Verification

The SLBP and SLLP also emphasize the required transparency, accuracy, and integrity of the information that borrowers will disclose and report to stakeholders through these core components. The following sections detail the alignment of MPCC's Sustainable Finance Framework with the SLBPs and SLLPs, along with ABS's opinion on the alignment.

#### 4.1. Selection of KPIs

MPCC used the below sustainability metric for its KPI:

 Annual Efficiency Ratio (AER) as a metric of the annual emissions intensity of the fleet, taken as a weighted average for the time each vessel remains under MPCC ownership. It is based on well-to-wake (WtW) GHG emissions. Only vessels owned by MPCC as of 31<sup>st</sup> December each year are included.

#### **ABS** Opinion

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are a major material issue for a shipping company, both as a source of financial risk and in terms of environmental and societal impact, as is also reflected in the company's own Sustainability Report.

The calculation of the emissions is conducted on a Well-to-wake basis. This approach is forwardlooking and aligned with the revised IMO's strategy stated the levels of ambition and indicative checkpoints should take into account the well-to-wake GHG emissions. The calculation of the weighted average AER is clearly defined, easily measured and quantified.

Supporting documentation for the calculation of this KPI shall be the data submitted to IMO DCS as a statutory requirement for all vessels of the company during their ownership. The KPI – AER is calculated on a fleet level.

ABS acknowledges that the KPIs selected by MPCC are in line with its environmental goals. The alignment with SLBP and SLLP, as well as the focus on reducing greenhouse gas emissions, indicate a strong potential for a positive environmental impact. AER is identified as a core potential KPI in the Illustrative KPIs Registry published by ICMA for the maritime sector and shipping subsector.



#### 4.2. Calibration of SPTs

The primary SPT is achieving a 10% reduction in the fleet's average well-to-wake AER over the period of the Sustainability-Linked Bond with an indicative 2% reduction each year starting from 2024. A continuous improvement of yearly weighted fleet average AER with 2023 as the baseline year.

Year	YoY Reduction %	Cumulative Reduction %
2024	2	2
2025	2	4
2026	2	6
2027	2	8
2028	2	10

#### **ABS** Opinion

MPCC's carbon intensity targets are calibrated to be more ambitious than the IMO's 40% intensity target for 2030, as outlined in IMO Resolution MEPC.377(80), adopted on July 7, 2023. ABS study confirms that the 2008 Fleet WtW Annual Efficiency Ratio (AER) is 24.28 grams of CO2e per tonne-mile, while the 2023 Fleet WtW Annual Efficiency Ratio (AER) is 15.18 grams of CO2e per tonne-mile. During the five-year period, an AER of 13.66 is projected for 2028, reflecting a 10% reduction from the 2023 baseline.

Year	AER grams CO2 per tonne-mile	Cumulative Reduction %
2008	24.28	NA
2023	15.18	37.5%
2028 (projected)	13.66	43.7%

The company has set a sustainable performance target (SPT) in the context of the SLFF to reduce GHG intensity by 43.7% at the end of year 2028, aligning with internationally recognized frameworks in the maritime sector. This SPT reflects a proactive approach and demonstrates a commitment to advancing beyond established regulatory baselines outlined by IMO. MPCC is set to achieve a 43.7% reduction in 2028, surpassing the IMO's 40% reduction target by 2030. The ambition in this target indicates a dedication to long-term environmental performance improvements in line with industry expectations.

MPCC is intended to improve the vessel's efficiency by installing efficiency-enhancing technologies like Waste Heat Recovery Systems, variable frequency drive (VFD) for pumps, M/E control and autopilot upgrades, and LED lights. In addition, MPCC is working on hydrodynamic



improvements such as utilizing Pre-Swirl stators, new propellers and Boss Cap fins, new Bulbous bows and applying Silicon paint to reduce hull resistance.

The new buildings will be added to the fleet by the end of 2024 or early 2025, decreasing the fleet's overall AER. Charterers will operate partially green on methanol on the DF Methanol vessels, resulting in a lower well-to-wake GHG footprint. The two newbuilds 1,300 TEU feeder vessels are achieving over 30% design-based efficiency. They are scheduled for delivery by the end of 2024. These vessels will operate partially on green methanol from the start and will include an energy storage system (battery) and shore power connectors. Overall, these vessels are designed to have an Energy Efficiency Design Index (EEDI) value 33.5% lower than the required EEDI.

#### **ABS** Opinion

ABS views MPCC's calibration of Sustainability Performance Targets (SPTs) as ambitious. It takes into consideration the beyond business as usual trajectory and regulatory required targets.

#### 4.3. Bond Characteristics

The Sustainability-Linked Bond contains the characteristics of a conventional bond but with a penalty provision attached. Should MPCC fail to meet the SPT by the Target Observation Date, the principal repayment upon maturity will increase by 0.50 per cent (i.e. 100.50 per cent) of the Nominal Amount. MPCC shall meet the following to keep the bond characteristics unchanged:

- A) Reach the applicable SPT on the Target Observation Date.
- B) During the one month period immediately preceding the Maturity Date deliver written evidence that the SPT has been met on average for the years in the period starting with the year 2024 until and including the year 2028 (published in the Sustainability Report for the period ending 31 December 2028).

#### **ABS** Opinion

ABS finds that the bond characteristics align well with the requirements for a Sustainability-Linked Bond (SLB). A penalty provision is included, stipulating that the principal repayment will increase by 0.50% if the SPT is not met. This 0.50% increase represents a meaningful change relative to the bond's original terms.

The bond documentation specifies the need to achieve the SPT and to provide the relevant reporting publicly. This requirement ensures transparency and accountability.

#### 4.4. Reporting

MPCC commits to documenting the Key Performance Indicator (KPI) performance annually in their corporate sustainability report, combined non-financial declaration, or comparable reports. This aligns with the ICMA recommendation for regular and at least annual reporting. The report will include information on the KPI performance and Sustainability Performance Target (SPT) achievements, which are crucial for investor transparency.

While not explicitly stated in the Framework, it is implied that these reports will be publicly available, as is standard practice for corporate sustainability reports.



## **ABS** Opinion

ABS views MPCC's reporting strategy as thorough and transparent. MPCC's reporting process demonstrates strong alignment with ICMA and LMA Principles. By integrating this sustainability reporting into their established corporate reporting mechanisms, MPCC ensures that their sustainability performance is given equal importance alongside other key business metrics. This integration underscores the company's commitment to embedding sustainability into its core business practices. The annual reporting cycle and integration into corporate reporting demonstrate a serious commitment to transparency and stakeholder engagement in their sustainability journey.

#### 4.5. Verification

To ensure the accuracy and validity of KPI performance data and SPT achievements, MPCC will engage an external verifier. This step aligns with the SLBP's and SLLPs' requirements for independent and external verification. Each year, the external verifier will deliver an independent report on the attainment of SPT, adhering to the recommendation for external verification. The scope of this verification will encompass both the KPI performance data and the progress against the SPTs, providing a comprehensive review in line with best practices.

#### **ABS** Opinion

ABS views MPCC's verification strategy as thorough and transparent. MPCC's verification process demonstrates alignment with ICMA principles. The engagement of a reputable third-party verifier, commitment to annual verification, and public disclosure of key documents align well with market expectations and best practices for sustainability-linked bonds and loans.

## 5. Conclusion

ABS has reviewed MPCC's Sustainability-Linked Finance framework and considers the KPI relevant, material, and aligned with the company's sustainability strategy. ABS deems the SPTs ambitious, as they constitute an important step to reduce GHG emissions trajectory compared with previous reduction efforts. ABS considers reporting and verification commitments to be aligned with current market standards.

Based on the foregoing, ABS regards MPCC's Sustainability-Linked Finance framework to be aligned with the core elements of the ICMA SLBP and LMA SLLP and the potential achievements of the SPTs to be impactful.



## 6. Statement of Competence and Independence

With this statement, ABS expresses an independent second opinion on the alignment of the MPCC's Sustainability-Linked Finance Framework to the SLBPs and SLLPs.

ABS's statement is intended to identify the level of alignment of the Framework with the SLBPs and SLLPs. To help MPCC in its efforts to align with the SLBPs and SLLPs, ABS has received and reviewed relevant information and facts provided by MPCC and relied on this as the basis for rendering this statement. MPCC has represented that the information is materially true, accurate and complete and ABS is under no obligation to verify the same independently. ABS shall not be liable for any opinion rendered under this statement to the extent that it is based on or resulted from inaccurate or incomplete information, data and facts provided by or on behalf of MPCC whether due to error, omission or deliberate falsification.

ABS applies its own management standards and compliance policies for quality control and accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of quality control, including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards, and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. An independent team of sustainability assurance professionals carried out this engagement work. ABS was not involved in preparing statements or data included in the Framework except for this Statement. ABS maintains complete impartiality toward stakeholders during the assessment process.

ABS's report was prepared by ABS solely for the benefit of MPCC. Neither ABS nor any person acting on ABS's behalf makes any warranty (express or implied), or assumes any liability to any third party, with respect to the use of any information or methods disclosed herein. Any third-party recipient of this report, by acceptance or use of this report, releases ABS from liability for any direct, indirect, consequential, or special loss or damage, whether arising in contract, tort (including negligence), or otherwise.



American Bureau of Shipping Oslo sustainability@eagle.org

SPO Dated: 19th September 2024

Project ID	5372563
SA no	QUO-38669-H7L7C
Date	19-September-2024

## **CONTACT INFORMATION**

#### North America Region

1701 City Plaza Dr. Spring, Texas 77389, USA Tel: +1-281-877-6000 Email: ABS-Amer@eagle.org

#### South America Region

Rua Acre, nº 15 - 11º floor, Centro Rio de Janeiro 20081-000, Brazil Tel: +55 21 2276-3535 Email: absrio@eagle.org

#### Europe Regior

111 Old Broad Street London EC2N 1AP, UK Tel: +44-20-7247-3255 Email: ABS-Eur@eagle.org

#### Africa and Middle East Region

Al Joud Center, 1st floor, Suite # 111 Sheikh Zayed Road P.O. Box 24860, Dubai, UAE Tel: +971 4 330 6000 Email: ABSDubai@eagle.org

#### Greater China Regior

World Trade Tower, 29F, Room 2906 500 Guangdong Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai, China 200000 Tel: +86 21 23270888 Email: ABSGreaterChina@eagle.org

#### North Pacific Region

11th Floor, Kyobo Life Insurance Bldg. 7, Chungjang-daero, Jung-Gu Busan 48939, Republic of Korea Tel: +82 51 460 4197 Email: ABSNorthPacific@eagle.org

#### South Pacific Regior

438 Alexandra Road #08-00 Alexandra Point, Singapore 119958 Tel: +65 6276 8700 Email: ABS-Pac@eagle.org

© 2024 American Bureau of Shipping. All rights reserved.

